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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

ERNEST TAYLOR     §  CIVIL ACTION 

      § 

 Plaintiff,    §    

      §  

VS.       § 

        § 

THE CITY OF BATON ROUGE, ET AL.  §  NO. 13-579-BAJ-RLB 

      § 

   Defendants.    § 

 

 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 

AND FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff, ERNEST TAYLOR, through undersigned counsel, who moves 

this Court pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65 for the immediate issuance of a temporary restraining 

order, followed by the issuance of a preliminary injunction in this cause, enjoining Defendants 

The City of Baton Rouge and Carl Dabadie, Jr. from enforcing  Baton Rouge Code of 

Ordinances §13:95.3.  Plaintiff also requests that the Court’s order enjoin Defendants The City of 

Baton Rouge, Mary E. Roper, and Lisa Freeman from the use of legal process to prosecute 

individuals accused of violating Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances §13:95.3.  Plaintiff requests 

that the Court grant this relief for the reasons set forth in the accompanying memorandum in 

support, which is incorporated herein by reference.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Ernest Taylor, prays that a Temporary Restraining Order be 

entered immediately, followed by the issuance of a preliminary injunction, enjoining Defendants 

from further enforcement of or prosecution under §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge Code of 

Ordinances. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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 s/  Terrence J. Donahue, Jr.__________ 

Christopher D. Glisson #20200 

Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. #32126  

MCGLYNN, GLISSON, & MOUTON 

340 Florida Street 

Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70801 

(225) 344-3555 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing pleading has been served on all counsel of 

record through a Notice of Electronic Filing generated by the Court’s CM/ECF system on this, 

the 24
th

 day of July, 2014.   

s/ Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. 

Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

ERNEST TAYLOR     §  CIVIL ACTION 

      § 

 Plaintiff,    §    

      §  

VS.       § 

        § 

THE CITY OF BATON ROUGE, ET AL.  §  NO. 13-579-BAJ-RLB 

      § 

   Defendants.    § 

 

 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER 

AND FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 

 

I. Introduction 

Despite Plaintiff’s best efforts to work in cooperation with Defendants to resolve the 

claims for injunctive relief at issue in this case, those efforts have been consistently rebuffed by 

Defendants’ actions.  While expressing a willingness to pursue the repeal of §13:95.3 of the 

Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances in order to obviate the need for the injunctive and/or 

declaratory relief requested in Plaintiff’s complaint, Defendants have clearly abandoned any such 

efforts, if they ever earnestly intended to pursue them.  Instead, Defendants’ recent actions 

indicate an intent to delay and/or preclude the ultimate resolution of Plaintiff’s claims and to 

permit the continued utilization of an outdated and unconstitutional ordinance in violation of 

both state and federal law.  For the reasons stated below, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the 

Court immediately issue a temporary restraining order, followed by the issuance of a preliminary 

injunction preventing further utilization of §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances by 
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the City and its actors. 

II. Relevant Facts 

Plaintiff Ernest Taylor (“Taylor”) routinely keeps his lawfully-held firearms in his 

vehicle.  See Plaintiff’s Verified Complaint, [Doc. 1] at ¶22.  In October of 2012, Taylor was 

arrested, and his lawfully-held firearms were seized pursuant to §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge 

Code of Ordinances.  See generally, id. at ¶¶14-39. 

Defendant The City of Baton Rouge (“the City”) is a municipality and political 

subdivision of the State of Louisiana.  See Plaintiff’s Verified Complaint, [Doc. 1] at ¶5.  In 

1951, the City enacted Title 13, §83 of the 1951 Baton Rouge City Code.  Id. at ¶49.  In 1962, 

the City reenacted Title 13, §83 of the Baton Rouge City Code and redesignated it as Title 13, 

§205.  Id. at 50.  51. The ordinance first appearing as Title 13, §83 in the 1951 Baton Rouge 

City Code still exists and has not been amended.  Id. at ¶51.  The ordinance appears in the 

current version of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Baton Rouge as Title 13, Section 95.3 

(“13:95.3” or “the ordinance”).  The text of §13:95.3 is set forth in Exhibit B to Plaintiff’s 

Verified Complaint.  [Doc. 1-1] at 12. 

On December 28, 1984, the Louisiana First Circuit Court of Appeal determined that 

reliance upon subsection (b) of the Baton Rouge Code Sec. 13:95.3 (“the ordinance”) permitted 

unconstitutional searches and seizures in violation of rights guaranteed by the Fourth and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  See State v. Garrett, 461 So.2d 651 

(La.App. 1 Cir. 1984).  On December 23, 1985, the United States District Court for the Western 

District of Louisiana determined that a Louisiana state statute, with provisions similar to those 

appearing in §13:95.3, permitted unconstitutional searches and seizures in violation of rights 
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guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.  See 

Ringe v. Romero, 624 F.Supp. 417 (W.D. La. 1985).  Also in 1985, the Louisiana Legislature 

passed Act. No. 765, enacting Louisiana Revised Statute 14:95.5, which prohibited conduct 

similar to that proscribed by §13:95.3, but in a much narrower set of circumstances.  See Verified 

Complaint, [Doc. 1] at ¶56.  On March 12, 1986, the City enacted Ordinance No. 8118, 

containing Title 13, §95.4, which reproduced verbatim the more narrowly tailored provisions 

appearing in La. R.S. §14:95.5, and which currently still appears in the City’s Code of 

Ordinances, under the same title and section. 

 Defendant Carl Dabadie, Jr. is an official of The City of Baton Rouge and the current 

Baton Rouge Chief of Police.  Id. at ¶7.  The Chief of the Baton Rouge Police Department 

possesses the authority to direct and control the powers exercised by the officers of the Baton 

Rouge Police Department pursuant to Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances § 4:51.  Id. at ¶41.  With 

respect to the discharge of their duties, officers of the Baton Rouge Police Department are 

required to “obey absolutely” the orders and directions of the Chief of Police pursuant to Baton 

Rouge Code of Ordinances § 4:55.  Id. at ¶43.  Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances §. 4:50 also 

vests responsibility with the Baton Rouge Police Department to preserve the rights of Baton 

Rouge citizens with respect to their persons and property, and to uphold the laws of the State of 

Louisiana.  Id. at 44.  On July 7, 2014, a local media outlet quoted Seargent Mary Ann Godawa, 

spokesperson for the Baton Rouge Police Department as stating, “[t]he officers acted in good 

faith when this ordinance [§13:95.3] was enforced [against Plaintiff] and we will continue to use 

it as long as it is a law on the books.”  See WAFB News Report, [Doc. 55-1]. 

Defendant Mary Roper (“Roper”) is an official of The City of Baton Rouge and the 
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current East Baton Rouge Parish Attorney.  Id. at ¶8.  45. Section 11.01 of The City of Baton 

Rouge’s Plan of Government appoints the Parish Attorney to serve as the legal advisor for the 

City and all of its departments, offices and agencies, and is charged with furnishing opinions 

regarding questions of law involving the powers and duties of City officials.  Id. at ¶45.  The 

Parish Attorney is authorized to appoint Assistant Parish Attorneys, at least one of whom is to be 

dedicated to the prosecution of ordinance violations.  Id.  The Parish Attorney may delegate her 

duty to prosecute all ordinance violations in the City Court to an Assistant Parish Attorney, or 

City Prosecutor.  Id.   

On June 25, 2014, Roper appeared before the Baton Rouge Metropolitan Council in her 

capacity as Parish Attorney both personally, and through her Assistant Parish Attorney, Mr. 

Frank Gremillion seeking repeal of §13:95.3.  See generally, [Doc. 44], 14-17.  Roper  

recommended the repeal of §13:95.3 because it was “redundant to another ordinance,” and 

because the United States District Court for the Western District of Louisiana had “ruled that a 

state statute which had identical provisions [to §13:95.3] was unconstitutional…”  Through Mr. 

Gremillion, Roper indicated that the enactment of §13:95.4 – cited above -  was the result of the 

1986 Metro Council’s attempt to cure the constitutional deficiencies present in §13:95.3.  Id.  

The Parish Attorney stated the following justification for the repeal of §13.95.3: 

“I believe, and we all at the office, after checking it out, believe that the continued 

existence of that particular section, that is, the earlier one, is simply a mistake, and 

it should be corrected.” 

Id.  The Parish Attorney also indicated that “courts have held consistently” that warrantless 

searches and seizures, such as those authorized by §13:95.3, are unconstitutional.  Id. The 

Council did not vote on the repeal of §13:95.3 at the June 25, 2014 meeting, and deferred the 

issue of §13:95.3’s repeal until its next meeting on July 23, 2014. 
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Defendant Lisa Freeman is an official of The City of Baton Rouge and the Chief Baton 

Rouge City Prosecutor.  Id. at ¶9.  Pursuant to official policy and custom, the Chief Baton Rouge 

City Prosecutor holds primary responsibility for prosecuting all ordinance violations in Baton 

Rouge City Court.  Id. at ¶45-46. 

III. Law and Argument 

A. Standard of Law 

The purpose of a preliminary injunction is to prevent irreparable injury so as to preserve 

the court’s ability to render a meaningful decision on the merits.  Mississippi Power & Light Co. 

v. United Gas Pipe Line Co., 760 F.2d 618, 627 (5
th

 Cir. 1985), citing Canal Authority of State of 

Florida v. Callaway, 489 F.2d 567, 576 (5
th

 Cir. 1974).  The standards to obtain a preliminary 

injunction or a temporary restraining order are substantively the same. See Guy v. Tanner, 2014 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85730, *4-*5 (E.D. La. June 23, 2014); see also, Turner v. Epps, 460 Fed. 

Appx. 322 (5
th

 Cir. 2012) (unpublished), quoting Janvey v. Alguire, 647 F.3d 585, 595 (5
th

 Cir. 

2011) (setting forth requirements for temporary restraining order); Allied Marketing Group, Inc. 

v. CDL Marketing, Inc., 878 F.2d 806 (5
th

 Cir. 1989) (setting forth same requirements for 

preliminary injunction).  In order to obtain a temporary restraining order or a preliminary 

injunction, the mover must clearly establish the following four elements: 

(1) a substantial likelihood of success on the merits; 

(2) a substantial threat that failure to grant the relief requested will result in irreparable 

injury; 

(3) that the threatened injury outweighs any damage that the relief requested may cause 

the opposing party; and 

(4) that the relief requested will not disserve the public interest. 

Id. 
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 The decision of whether to grant a preliminary injunction or temporary restraining order 

is within the broad discretion of the district court.  Allied Marketing Group, Inc. at 809; Federal 

Sav. & Loan Ins. Corp. v. Dixon, 835 F.2d 554, 558 (5
th

 Cir. 1987).  While a court may hold an 

evidentiary hearing prior to issuing a preliminary injunction, it is not required to do so in all 

cases, particularly cases in which convincing factual disputes are lacking.  Federal Sav. & Loan 

Ins. Corp. at 558, citing Commerce Park at DFW Freeport v. Mardian Construction Co., 729 

F.2d 334, 341 (5
th

 Cir. 1984).  At the preliminary injunction stage, the procedures in the district 

court are less formal than at a trial on the merits, and the court may rely on otherwise 

inadmissible evidence, including hearsay.  Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. FDIC, 992 F.2d 

545, 551 (5
th

 Cir. 1993). 

B. Appropriate Parties 

 In Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1907), the United States Supreme Court considered the 

propriety of permitting suits against government actors to enjoin the enforcement or unlawful 

legislation, or prosecutions arising therefrom.  The court characterized the scenario before it in 

the following manner: 

We have, therefore, upon this record the case of an unconstitutional act of the 

state legislature and an intention by the Attorney General of State to endeavor to 

enforce its provisions, to the injury of the [Plaintiff], in compelling it, at great 

expense, to defend legal proceedings of a complicated and unusual character, and 

involving questions of vast importance to all employes [sic] and officers of 

[Plaintiff], as well as to the [Plaintiff] itself.  The question that arises is whether 

there is a remedy that the parties interested may resort to, by going into a Federal 

court of equity, in a case involving a violation of the Federal Constitution, and 

obtaining a judicial investigation of the problem, and pending its solution obtain 

freedom from suits, civil or criminal, by a temporary injunction, and if the 

question be finally decided favorably to the contention of the [Plaintiff], a 

permanent injunction restraining all such actions or proceedings. 

Id. at 149.  The Court reviewed and analyzed its prior precedent regarding sovereign immunity 
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pursuant to the 11
th

 Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and concluded: 

The various authorities we have referred to furnish ample justification for the 

assertion that individuals, who, as officers of the State, are clothed with some duty 

in regard to enforcement of the laws of the State, and who threaten and are about 

to commence proceedings, either of a civil or criminal nature, to enforce against 

parties affected an unconstitutional act, violating the Federal Constitution, may be 

enjoined by a Federal court of equity from such action. 

Id. at 452. 

 Ultimately, the Court found that an individual government actor may be enjoined from 

utilizing an unconstitutional provision of law when “the state officer by virtue of his office has 

some connection with the enforcement of the [allegedly unconstitutional] act.”  Id. at 453.  The 

Court provided the following justification for its conclusion: 

The answer to all this is the same as made in every case where an official claims 

to be acting under the authority of the State.  The act to be enforced is alleged to 

be unconstitutional, and if it be so, the use of the name of the State to enforce an 

unconstitutional act to the injury of complainants is a proceeding without the 

authority of and one which does not affect the State in its sovereign or 

governmental capacity.  It is simply an illegal act upon the part of a state official 

in attempting by the use of the name of the State to enforce a legislative 

enactment which is void because unconstitutional.  If the act which the state 

Attorney General seeks to enforce be a violation of the Federal Constitution, the 

officer in proceeding under such enactment comes into conflict with the superior 

authority of that Constitution, and he is in that case stripped of his official or 

representative character and is subjected in person to the consequences of his 

individual conduct.  The State has no power to impart to him any immunity from 

responsibility to the supreme authority of the United States.  It would be an injury 

to complainant to harass it with a multiplicity of suits or litigation generally in an 

endeavor to enforce penalties under an unconstitutional enactment, and to prevent 

it ought to be within a court of equity.  If the question of unconstitutionality with 

reference, at least, to the Federal Constitution be first raised in a Federal court that 

court, as we think is shown by the authorities cited hereafter, has the right to 

decide it to the exclusion of all other courts. 

Id. at 454 (citation omitted) 

 Furthermore, in Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Srvs, 436 U.S. 658 (1978), the Court determined 

that municipal corporations could properly be considered “persons” in an action brought 
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pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983, at least where the unconstitutional actions at issue were the result 

of an official policy or ordinance: 

Our analysis of the legislative history of the Civil Rights Act of 1871 compels the 

conclusion that Congress did intend municipalities and other local government 

units to be included among those persons to whom §1983 applies.  Local 

governing bodies, therefore, can be sued directly under §1983 for monetary, 

declaratory, or injunctive relief where, as here, the action that is alleged to be 

unconstitutional implements or executes a policy statement, ordinance, regulation, 

or decision officially adopted and promulgated by that body’s officers.  Moreover, 

although the touchstone of a §1983 action against a governmental body is an 

allegation that official policy is responsible for a deprivation of rights guaranteed 

by the Constitution, local governments, like every other §1983 “person,” by the 

very terms of the statute, may be sued for constitutional deprivations visited 

pursuant to governmental “custom” even though such a custom has not received 

formal approval through the body’s official decisionmaking channels. 

Id. at 690-691.   

C. Plaintiff Has Demonstrated a Substantial Likelihood of Success on the Merits 

To evaluate a plaintiff’s likelihood of success on the merits, a court must first determine 

the proper standard to be applied in evaluating the claims at issue, then apply that standard to the 

facts in the record.  Mississippi Power and Light Co. at 622; citing Deerfield Medical Center v. 

City of Deerfield Beach, 661 F.2d 328, 334 (5
th

 Cir. 1981).  As set forth above, courts have 

determined on more than one occasion that provisions of law such as §13.95.3, that permit 

warrantless searches, seizures, and arrests by government officials acting under color of state law 

violate provisions of the United States Constitution.  See State v. Garrett; Ringe v. Romero, 

supra.  In addition, Defendants have conceded in a public forum that utilization of §13:95.3 to 

perform warrantless searches and seizures upon individuals within the Baton Rouge city limits is 

unconstitutional and illegal.  See [Doc. 44] at 14-17. 

Furthermore, unlike the ordinary circumstances under which a party would be likely to 

request a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction, this Court has already received 
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extensive briefing on the constitutionality of §13:95.3.  See e.g., [Docs. 23, 26, 28, 36, 50].  In 

briefing their position to the Court, Defendants have conceded that §13:95.3 is unconstitutional 

in certain instances.  See [Doc. 36] at 8 (“[e]xtending the prohibition of the law to the parking lot 

of an establishment where alcohol is only sold but not consumed may not be as narrowly tailored 

as it could be”); 9 (“[i]t is conceded that [§13:95.3] could be unconstitutional ‘as applied’ to a 

person within the parking lot of a grocery store”).  There also exists a state statute which directly 

conflicts with §13:95.3.  See La. R.S. §32:292.1 (providing that “a person who lawfully 

possesses a firearm may transport or store such firearm in a locked, privately-owned motor 

vehicle in any parking lot, parking garage, or other designated parking area”).  As a result, 

Plaintiff has carried its burden of establishing a substantial likelihood on the merits. 

D. There Exists A Substantial Threat That Failure to Issue a Temporary 

Restraining Order and/or a Preliminary Injunction Will Result in Irreparable 

Injury to Both Plaintiff and the Public 

A party may satisfy the requirement of establishing a substantial threat of irreparable 

injury for purposes of injunctive relief by demonstrating an adverse impact to the public at large.  

Mississippi Power & Light Co. at 623.  In cases such as this, where the irreparable harm and 

public interest inquiries are intertwined, the court may consider these factors together.  Id.; citing 

Treasure Salvors, Inc. v. Unidentified Wrecked and Abandoned Sailing Vessel, 640 F.2d 560, 

568 (5
th

 Cir. 1981).  Furthermore, while Defendants have argued that Plaintiff lacks standing to 

challenge particular provisions of §13:95.3 due to – which Plaintiff disputes – the Supreme Court 

in Ex Parte Young addressed in extenso the reasons why it would inappropriate to impose 

prosecution under an unconstitutional legal provision as a condition precedent to requesting 

injunctive relief: 

Now, to impose upon a party interested the burden of obtaining a judicial decision 
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of such a question (no prior hearing having ever been given) only upon the 

condition that if unsuccessful he must suffer imprisonment and pay fines, is, in 

effect, to close up all approaches to the courts and thus prevent any hearing upon 

the question whether the … acts are … invalid. 

Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. at 148. 

It is further objected (and the objection really forms part of the contention that the 

State cannot be sued) that a court of equity has no jurisdiction to enjoin criminal 

proceedings, by indictment or otherwise, under the state law.  This, as a general 

rule, is true.  But there are exceptions.  When such indictment or proceeding is 

brought to enforce an alleged unconstitutional statute, which is the subject matter 

of inquiry in a suit already pending in a Federal court, the latter court having first 

obtained jurisdiction over the subject matter, has the right, in both civil and 

criminal cases, to hold and maintain such jurisdiction to the exclusion of all other 

courts, until its duty is fully performed. 

Id. at 161-162. 

To await proceedings against the [plaintiff] in a state court grounded upon a 

disobedience of the act, and then, if necessary, obtain a review in this court by 

writ of error to the highest state court, would place the [plaintiff] in peril of large 

loss and its agents in great risk of fines and imprisonment if it should be finally 

determined that the act was valid.  This risk the [plaintiff] ought not be required to 

take. 

… 

Such remedy [bill of equity] is undoubtedly the most convenient, the most 

comprehensive and the most orderly way in which the rights of all parties can be 

properly, fairly and adequately passed upon.  

… 

The question [at issue] is important and controlling, and being of a judicial nature 

it ought to be settled at the earliest moment by some court, and when a Federal 

court first obtains jurisdiction it ought, on general principles of jurisprudence, to 

be permitted to finish the inquiry and make a conclusive judgment to the 

exclusion of all other courts.  That is all that is claimed, and this, we think, must 

be admitted. 

Id. at 165-166. 

 In the present case, Plaintiff is entitled to seek injunctive relief as he is a resident of the 

City of Baton Rouge who chooses to keep lawfully-held firearms in his vehicle.  As addressed by 
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Plaintiff in previous filings with the Court, given Plaintiff’s choice to exercise the rights 

guaranteed him by state and federal law, he will undoubtedly violate the provisions of §13:95.3 

any time he refuels at an establishment that sells alcohol – which includes most, if not all 

establishments that market fuel for sale to the public.  The same is true with respect to any other 

individual present within the Baton Rouge city limits who opts to store or transport a firearm in 

their vehicle.  As §13:95.3 mandates the seizure of any weapon (including firearms) discovered 

in connection with a warrantless non-consensual search, there exists a substantial threat that 

irreparable harm will occur in the absence of injunctive relief.  As the ordinance criminalizes 

constitutionally protected conduct, and permits constitutionally proscribed conduct, there also 

exists the real, and demonstrable threat that members of the public, including Plaintiff, will be 

forced to incur significant legal fees in order to vindicate their constitutional rights.  Plaintiff has 

carried his burden of establishing a substantial threat of irreparable harm that is contrary to the 

public interest. 

E. The Balance of Harms Weighs in Plaintiff’s Favor 

The final task to be undertaken in establishing the availability of injunctive relief is to 

balance the harm that would be suffered by Plaintiffs and the public if the preliminary injunction 

is denied against the possible harm that would result to Defendants if the injunction is granted.  

See Mississippi Power & Light Co. at 626.  This balance undoubtedly tips in Plaintiff’s favor, as 

the issuance of an injunction would likely benefit both Plaintiff and Defendants.  As shown 

above, if the Ordinance is ultimately determined to be unconstitutional, and injunctive relief 

denied, the potential harms that could be visited upon Plaintiff or other members of the public 

include the possible imposition of criminal fines, imprisonment, deprivation of their property 
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rendering them incapable of self-defense, and/or accumulation of unnecessary attorney’s fees.  

Moreover, should the Ordinance ultimately be declared unconstitutional, anyone arrested and 

prosecuted pursuant to its provisions would likely have a claim against Defendants, as does 

plaintiff herein, which could subject the City or its officials to monetary damages, and impede 

the functions of certain public offices. 

On the other hand, should the Court grant Plaintiff’s request for relief and ultimately 

determine that the Ordinance survives (at most, in part, given Defendants’ concessions of 

unconstitutionality) a constitutional analysis, the only apparent harm that would result would be 

the inability of the City and its officials to punish individuals who are in possession of weapons 

in the parking lot of an establishment that serves alcohol, or inside an establishment that sells, 

but does not serve alcohol.  The more narrowly-tailored provisions of §13:95.4 would remain 

unaffected, maintaining a prohibition against the possession of firearms in an establishment that 

sells alcohol for consumption on the premises.  Considering the Parish Attorney’s publicly stated 

belief that the Ordinance is unconstitutional and a “mistake,” Defendants have also created 

considerable uncertainty as to whether individuals are entitled to engage in the actions described 

in §13:95.3, or whether engaging in those actions would result in criminal prosecution.   

In connection with rights guaranteed by the First Amendment, the Supreme Court has 

stated that such uncertainty “inevitably lead[s] citizens to steer far wider of the unlawful zone … 

than [they would] if the boundaries of the forbidden areas were clearly marked.”  See Grayned v. 

City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 109 (1972); see also Wilson v. County of Cook, 968 N.E.2d 641, 

650 (Ill. 2012) (applying same principle in context of Second Amendment rights).  As a result, 

any law impinging on such fundamental rights has been said to require a “greater degree of 
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specificity,” and, as compared to proscriptions providing only for civil penalties, “a lesser degree 

of vagueness” than laws that do not affect fundamental rights.  See Wilson at 650; citing Smith v. 

Goguen, 415 U.S. 566, 574 (1974); Village of Hoffman Estates v. The Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 

Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 498 (1982).  As Defendants have created sufficient uncertainty to preclude 

notice of the specific conduct sought to be criminalized, any harm that may result from a grant of 

injunctive relief would be due, in large part, to Defendants’ own actions. 

F. Security 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c), entitled “security” provides, in relevant part: 

The court may issue a preliminary injunction or a temporary restraining order 

only if the movant gives security in an amount the court considers proper to pay 

the costs and damages sustained by any party found to have been wrongfully 

enjoined or restrained. 

Plaintiff respectfully avers that no security of the type addressed in Rule 65(c) should be required 

in this case given the substantial likelihood of irreparable harm to Plaintiff, and others similarly 

situated, and the virtual non-existence of any likelihood that Defendants will incur any costs or 

damages in the event that Defendants are found to have been wrongfully enjoined or restrained. 

IV. Conclusion 

For those reasons stated above, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court immediately 

issue a temporary restraining order, to be followed by the issuance of a preliminary injunction in 

this cause, enjoining Defendants The City of Baton Rouge and Carl Dabadie, Jr. from further 

enforcement of  Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances §13:95.3 and enjoining Defendants The City 

of Baton Rouge, Mary E. Roper, and Lisa Freeman from prosecuting individuals accused of 

violating Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances §13:95.3.    

Respectfully submitted, 
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 s/  Terrence J. Donahue, Jr.__________ 

Christopher D. Glisson #20200 

Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. #32126  

MCGLYNN, GLISSON, & MOUTON 

340 Florida Street 

Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70801 

(225) 344-3555 

 

CERTIFICATE OF EFFORTS TO GIVE NOTICE 

 Subsequent to the hearing held by the Court on June 18
th

, 2014, counsel for Defendants, 

Tedrick Knightshead and the undersigned engaged in conversations directed at resolving all 

claims asserted in the present suit.  In connection with these conversations, I informed Mr. 

Knightshead that in order to achieve full resolution it would first be necessary to resolve 

Plaintiff’s claims for injunctive and declaratory relief, and that I believed that such resolution 

could possibly be achieved through the submission of a negotiated consent judgment providing 

that §13:95.3 would no longer be enforced by the Baton Rouge Police Department, and that the 

Parish Attorney and City Prosecutor would discontinue prosecuting violations of §13:95.3.   

 On June 24, 2014, Mr. Knightshead proposed the submission of a letter from the Parish 

Attorney’s Office to the Chief of the Baton Rouge Police Department (“BRPD”), Carl Dabadie, 

Jr., suggesting that Chief Dabadie instruct officers of the BRPD to no longer enforce §13:95.3 of 

the Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances while the Parish Attorney’s Office pursued efforts to repeal 

the ordinance.  The next day, June 25, 2014, Mr. Knightshead informed me that he had been able 

to place the issue of §13:95.3’s repeal on the agenda for the Metro Council meeting that was to 

be held that evening.  At the meeting a motion to defer the repeal of the ordinance until the next 

Metro Council meeting on July 24, 2014 was granted. 
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 On July 9, 2014, I spoke at length with Mr. Knightshead regarding numerous issues in 

Mr. Taylor’s case.  Among these issues was an investigative report performed by local news 

station WAFB in which Mary Ann Godawa, spokesperson for the BRPD, indicated that it was 

BRPD’s position that Officers Thomas and Wennemann had acted appropriately during Mr. 

Taylor’s arrest in October, 2012, and that the BRPD would continue to enforce the provisions of 

§13:95.3 “as long as it is a law on the books.”  I informed Mr. Knightshead that I felt that the 

BRPD’s position necessitated the entry of a temporary restraining order and/or preliminary 

injunction, and asked whether Defendants would agree to consolidate a hearing on a TRO with 

the hearing that was then scheduled before the Court on July 30, 2014.  In response, Mr. 

Knightshead indicated that his superiors at the Parish Attorney’s Office did not wish to engage in 

any discussion regarding a potential TRO until such time as the Court had resolved the issue of 

sanctions raised in an Order to Show Cause issued subsequent to the June 18
th

 hearing.  Mr. 

Knightshead requested additional time to resolve the issue, and as a result no request for a 

temporary restraining order or injunctive relief was submitted at that time. 

 On July 23, 2014, I contacted Mr. Knightshead to express my concern about reports in 

the media stating that the Metro Council may not be able to reach all items on its agenda during 

the meeting that was to be held later that evening.  I asked Mr. Knightshead if there was anything 

had been done or could be done to ensure  the Metro Council would consider the repeal of 

§13:95.3 at the July 23, 2014 meeting.  I also informed Mr. Knightshead that, in the event that 

the ordinance was not repealed at the meeting that evening, I would need to move forward with 

requesting a temporary restraining order, and requested his position regarding same.  Mr. 

Knightshead indicated that he did not know whether the Metro Council would reach the item 
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addressing the repeal of §13:95.3, that he was not aware of any means to ensure the item’s 

consideration, and that, in the event that the Metro Council did not reach the item, Defendants 

would oppose a request for a temporary restraining order. 

 In an effort to determine what, if any, documentation had been submitted by the Parish 

Attorney’s Office in connection with the request to repeal §13:95.3, I contacted Metro Council 

Member John Delgado’s office and requested any submissions that had been made in connection 

with the item requesting the repeal of §13:95.3.  In response I was provided with an “Agenda 

Space Request” outlining the repeal of the ordinance, and a red-lined document indicating that 

the entire text of §13:95.3 was being considered for deletion from the Baton Rouge Code of 

Ordinances.  In a later conversation with Councilman Delgado’s Office, I was informed that the 

item addressing the repeal of §13:95.3 had been removed from the agenda at the request of the 

Parish Attorney’s Office.  The item proposing the repeal of §13:95.3 was not considered at the 

July 23, 2014 Metro Council meeting.
1
  Prior to filing the present motion requesting a temporary 

restraining order and preliminary injunction, I asked Mr. Knightshead if the Parish Attorney’s 

Office had requested the item’s deletion, and inquired as to the reasoning therefor if they had.  

Mr. Knightshead stated that he was unaware of any action taken by the Parish Attorney’s office, 

but that he would attempt to find out. 

Pursuant to L.R. 65.1 I also certify that at approximately 2:13 p.m. on July 24, 2014, I e-

mailed Mr. Knightshead the above-stated “Certification of Efforts to Provide Notice” and 

informed him of my intention to file the present motion by 3:00 p.m. the same day.  Service of 

the entire pleading will be transmitted to counsel for Defendants upon filing with the Court. 

                                                 
1 

The repeal of §13:95.3 was only one of many items appearing on the agenda of the July 23
rd

 Metro Council 

meeting that was not considered due to lengthy public comments received in connection with a proposed “fairness” 

ordinance that would prohibit certain types of discrimination against members of the LGBT community. 
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   s/ Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. 

Terrence J. Donahue, Jr.. 

  

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing pleading has been served on all counsel of 

record through a Notice of Electronic Filing generated by the Court’s CM/ECF system on this, 

the 24
th

 day of July, 2014.   

s/ Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. 

Terrence J. Donahue, Jr. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

ERNEST TAYLOR     §  CIVIL ACTION 

      § 

 Plaintiff,    §    

      §  

VS.       § 

        § 

THE CITY OF BATON ROUGE, ET AL.  §  NO. 13-579-BAJ-RLB 

      § 

   Defendants.    § 

 

 

[PROPOSED] TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER  

[or, alternatively] 

[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

 

 

 Before the Court is Plaintiff’s Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and for 

Preliminary Injunction. 

 WHEREFORE, considering the representations appearing in Plaintiff’s Motion for 

Temporary Restraining Order and for Preliminary Injunction, the Court finds that Plaintiff has 

established the requisite showing for the relief requested in that: 

(1) through previous filings, and in the Memorandum filed in support of Plaintiff’s Motion 

for Temporary Restraining Order and for Preliminary Injunction, Plaintiff has 

demonstrated a substantial likelihood of prevailing on the issue of the unconstitutionality 

of §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances; 

(2) Plaintiff has demonstrated a substantial likelihood of irreparable injury in that the 

continued enforcement of §13:95.3 and prosecution of individuals who violate its 

provisions will result in the deprivation of certain rights guaranteed to individuals by both 
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the United States and Louisiana Constitutions, including the right to keep and bear arms, 

the right against unreasonable searches and seizures, the right against deprivation of 

liberty or property without due process of law, and the right to equal protection of the 

laws; 

(3) Plaintiff has sufficiently demonstrated that the injury threatened by declining to issue an 

order enjoining Defendants from further enforcement of §13:95.3 or prosecuting 

violations thereof outweighs any potential harm to Defendants from the issuance of such 

relief in that the potential injury to individuals such as plaintiff, including the deprivation 

of the constitutionally-protected rights of individuals, is great, whereas the potential 

injury that may result to Defendants under the relief requested is negligible; and 

(4) granting Plaintiff’s request for a temporary restraining order and injunctive relief will 

serve the public interest by preventing the deprivation of liberties guaranteed to each 

individual by the United States and Louisiana Constitutions by officials of the City of 

Baton Rouge acting under the color of state law. 

The harms that have a substantial likelihood of occurring as a result of denying Plaintiff’s 

request for a temporary restraining order and injunctive relief would be irreparable, in that 

monetary damages are insufficient to fully compensate an individual for a deprivation of 

fundamental rights guaranteed under the laws of the United States and the State of Louisiana at 

the hands of individuals cloaked in the color of state law. 

Furthermore, under the circumstances present here, the issuance of a temporary 

restraining order without first providing notice to Defendants is justified, in that Plaintiff’s 

counsel has engaged earnestly in attempts to achieve amicable resolution of these issues for an 
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extended period of time.  Further counseling in favor of the entry of an order without notice is 

the stated intention of the Baton Rouge Police Department to enforce the provisions of §13:95.3 

in spite of indication from the East Baton Rouge Parish Attorney’s Office that such enforcement 

will likely result in an unconstitutional deprivation of individual rights. 

In light of the above, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants, The City of Baton Rouge and Carl Dabadie, 

Jr., are enjoined from enforcing the provisions of §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge Code of 

Ordinances; and 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, The City of Baton Rouge, Mary E. Roper, 

and Lisa Freeman are enjoined from using legal process to prosecute individuals accused of 

violating §13:95.3 of the Baton Rouge Code of Ordinances; 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that it is unnecessary for Plaintiff to provide security 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c) as it is unlikely that Defendants will incur any costs or damages 

as a result of granting Plaintiff’s request for a temporary restraining order and injunctive relief. 

This Order shall be binding upon the parties identified above; the parties’ officers, agents, 

servants, employees, and attorneys; and any other persons who are in active concert or 

participation with any of the individuals previously identified. 

Said Order being entered at __________ o’clock ___,m. on this, the _______ day of 

_____________, 2014, and lasting for ____ days, or until further Order of this Court, whichever 

occurs first.   

 

_____________________________________ 

Judge, United States District Court 


